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Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
1,678 15 buildings
1 sites
structures
objects
1.679 15 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register _3 (Old Engine
Company No.12: Gage Elementary School; Samuel Gompers House)

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions

(Enter categories from instructions.)
DOMESTIC/Single dwelling/secondary structure _
DOMESTIC/Multiple dwelling
RELIGION/Religious facility
COMMERCE/TRADE/Specialty store
GOVERNMENT/fire station

RECREATION AND CULTURE/theater

Current Functions

(Enter categories from instructions.)
DOMESTIC/Single dwelling
DOMESTIC /Multiple dwelling
RELIGION/Religious facility
COMMERCE/TRADE/Specialty store
COMMERCE/TRADE/restaurant
LANDSCAPE/park
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7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)
LATE VICTORIAN/Edwardian
LATE VICTORIAN/Renaissance Revival
LATE VICTORIAN/Italianate
LATE VICTORIAN/Gothic
LATE 19" AND 20" CENTURY REVIVALS/Colonial Revival
LATE 19" AND 20" CENTURY REVIVALS/Georgian Revival _
LATE 19" AND 20" CENTURY REVIVALS/Classical Revival
LATE 19" AND 20" CENTURY AMERICAN MOVEMENTS/Craftsman_
LATE 19" AND 20" CENTURY AMERICAN MOVEMENTS/Academic Eclectic

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.)
Principal exterior materials of the property: Brick, Stone,
Limestone

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe
contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that
briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style,
method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has
historic integrity.)

Summary Paragraph

Bloomingdale is a sizeable residential neighborhood consisting of 28 squares bounded by North
Capitol Street on the east and Second Street on the west and by Florida Avenue on the south and
the McMillan Reservoir on the north in the mid-city section of Washington, DC. The
neighborhood is largely residential in character and readily defined by its intact and cohesive
collections of Victorian-era and early 20"-century rowhouse dwelling forms, many of the most
impressive of which line First Street. Corner houses are often larger and more highly articulated
and ornamented than their attached neighbors. Alley buildings, including former stables and
garages, are found both in isolation and in clusters within the alleyways.

Bloomingdale consists of a highly intact collection of substantial rowhouses built almost entirely
between 1891 and 1916 by teams of developers, builders, and architects. The rhythm of
repeating and alternating projecting bays, turrets, and rooftop ornaments of the late 19™-century
examples, and the front porches and dormer windows of the early 20"-century ones, give the
urban neighborhood its human scale and its exceptionally rich visual quality.
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The neighborhood has a cluster of small-scale commercial buildings around the intersection of
First Street and Rhode Island Avenue and another along North Capitol Street. A few other
independent stores are scattered about the neighborhood, as are neighborhood-based religious
and institutional buildings. Architecturally, the Sylvan Theater, Engine House No. 12, and all of
the neighborhood’s churches are notable buildings.

The historic district includes a total of 1,693 primary resources, 183 secondary resources, and
one site. A primary resource is the principal building on a lot. Generally, primary resources sit
on street-fronting lots with buildings facing the street. However, twelve of the primary resources
in Bloomingdale sit on “alley lots™ that have alley-only frontage. More than ninety-five percent
of the primary resources are rowhouses, rowhouse flats, or duplexes. Apartment buildings, five
churches, a church school and rectory, a fire house, theater, a public school, commercial
buildings and accessory buildings make up the remaining percentage of buildings. The “alley
lots” are home to the accessory buildings including former stables, converted to residences, and
rows of garages.

Of the 1,693 primary resources, 1,678 of them are contributing and fifteen (15) are non-
contributing. Nine of the fifteen non-contributing resources post-date the end-date of the period
of significance of 1948. Six of the fifteen non-contributing buildings were constructed during
the period of significance but have been significantly altered and no longer retain sufficient
integrity to qualify as contributing buildings.

Secondary resources are those that occupy the same lot as the primary resource. In
Bloomingdale, 183 secondary buildings have been identified, with most all of them being one-
story garages. Although a handful were built at the same time as the dwelling to which they are
associated, these garages were generally built after construction of the rowhouses that define the
district. Nine of the 183 secondary buildings are two-story stables that survive from the original
phase of development of Bloomingdale and contribute to its historic character.

Crispus Attucks Park (site) is located at the center of Square 3117 and was historically occupied
by a warehouse owned by the Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Company. Crispus Attucks
Park, along with two triangle parks are Bloomingdale’s only open spaces.

The rowhouses of Bloomingdale have been under heavy development pressure in recent years
and many of the rowhouses have rooftop and rear additions. Despite these additions, the
buildings as a whole, and the historic streetscapes remain highly intact and the Bloomingdale
Historic District retains a high degree of integrity.

Narrative Description

The neighborhood known as Bloomingdale is a long and narrow, two-block-wide geographic
area bounded by North Capitol Street on the east and Second Street on the west and by Florida
Avenue on the south and the McMillan Reservoir on the north in the mid-city section of
Washington, D.C. The neighborhood is largely residential in character and readily defined by its
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intact and cohesive collections of Victorian-era and early 20®-century rowhouse dwelling forms
that fill the area streets in an uninterrupted manner from one end to the other. The city squares
(blocks) in Bloomingdale are large, and some are bisected by minor streets, and all but three
have alleyways running through them. Rowhouses line the long blocks of east-west streets,
including both the principal and minor streets, as well as the north-south routes, with the most
impressive ones reserved for the area’s central spine: First Street. The intersections of the streets
are typically punctuated by imposing corner houses that are often larger and more highly
articulated and ornamented than their attached neighbors. Alley buildings, including former
stables and garages, are found both in isolation and in clusters within the alleyways.

The rowhouses of Bloomingdale are not only remarkably intact but are substantial in size and
materials (primarily brick with some stone) and offer quality design and craftsmanship. Built
within a 25-year period between 1891 and 1916, the rowhouses are most commonly the product
of teams of developers, builders and architects, and are executed in a variety of late
Victorian/Edwardian and early-20™ century styles. The rhythm of repeating and alternating
projecting bays, turrets, and rooftop ornaments of the late 19"-century examples, and the front
porches and dormer windows of the early 20"-century ones, give the urban neighborhood its
human scale and its exceptionally rich visual quality. The collection of rowhouses also offers a
visual lesson in the transition of the rowhouse form in the city from the Victorian era to the 20
century. Beginning in the early 1900s, the exuberant Victorian and Edwardian rowhouses,
replete with architectural elements and ornament, give way to more modest, subdued and
regularized rowhouse forms, characterized most commonly by full-width front porches and low-
lying roofs. Subtle stylistic shifts within these periods also become apparent, such as changes in
bay configurations and ornamentation preferences in the Victorian/Edwardian period, and roof
treatment and porch detailing in the 20"-century models.

While overwhelmingly residential in character, the district is served by a node of small-scale
commercial buildings clustered around the intersection of First Street and Rhode Island Avenue
and another along North Capitol Street. A few other independent stores are scattered about the
neighborhood, as are neighborhood-based religious and institutional buildings. Historically, these
establishments, from grocery stores and bakeries to churches, a theater, school, and firehouse,
provided the area residents with most all of their commercial, entertainment, and religious needs.
Architecturally, the Sylvan Theater, Engine House No. 12, and all of the neighborhood’s
churches are notable buildings.

Typically, narrow alleyways line the long blocks of Bloomingdale, providing service access to
the rear of each dwelling. However, in several squares west of First Street, where the blocks are
bisected by the north-south running Flagler Place, the alley system is organized at the center of
the squares and defined by clusters of alley buildings rather than a range of them. In one of these
squares—Bloomingdale Court--former stables have been converted to residences, resulting in the
re-activation of the historic alleyway.

The once-public McMillan Reservoir Park offered residents of Bloomingdale a neighborhood

park on a grand scale. Designed by Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr. the park offered curving paths,
plantings, and, at its highest point, a monumental fountain designed by Charles Platt and Herbert
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Adams. Since the park’s closing during World War II, however, available green space has been
limited. Crispus Attucks Park, the neighborhood’s only open greensward is located in the center
of the block between North Capitol and First streets and U and V streets, and historically housed
a storage facility for the Chesapeake and Ohio Telephone Company. The landscaped open area,
privately owned, is much used, but has no play equipment or other recreational facilities.

The below description of the historic district is divided by building type and within building type
by periods and styles of buildings.

Residential Buildings: Dwellings

The primary building type in Bloomingdale is the residential rowhouse. The neighborhood is
defined by its rows, which on average consists five or six attached dwellings, but may also
include as many as 17 attached dwellings, or consist simply as pairs of dwellings. Generally,
though, the various rows abut one another and are stylistically compatible, offering uninterrupted
collections of attached houses from one end of the block to the other. In some cases, single
dwellings were built independently from the rows, on a single lot, but abutting, or being abutted
by other dwellings, thereby appearing as part of a row. In rarer instances, dwellings are free-
standing and separate from the area’s defining rowhouses.

The rowhouses span the development period of the neighborhood from the first buildings in the
early 1890s until the late 1920s. These rowhouses are classified by their stylistic periods. The
Victorian-era and Edwardian-period rowhouse is typically a three- or four-story brick and/or
stone building with irregular massing, including projecting bays, gables and turrets; Victorian
ornamentation, including carved stone lintels, integrated brick and tilework around windows and
doors; bold cornice lines; and roofs sheathed in slate, sometimes with decorative polychrome
patterning. The 20"-century rowhouse is almost invariably a two-story, two or three-bay
dwelling form with a character-defining front porch that often extends the full width of the
fagade. Stylistically, these dwellings may be Craftsman, Colonial Revival-style or vernacular.
The shift from the late Victorian to the 20"-century rowhouse form occurred gradually within the
first decade of the 20" century and was fully realized by the 1910s.

Victorian/Edwardian Rowhouses

The initial phase of rowhouse building in Bloomingdale took place in the 1890s and was
concentrated in the blocks closest to the edge of the city at Florida Avenue, and just east of the
already well-established suburb of LeDroit Park. The first rowhouses to be built were
constructed by George N. Beale, whose family had owned the large tract of land before
subdividing it into residential building lots. For his first speculative development project in
Bloomingdale, Beale hired local builder, Peter Fersinger who in 1891 designed a group of seven
rowhouses from 1700 to 1712 First Street NW. These first dwellings—two-story brick
rowhouses with rectangular projecting bays, flat roofs and ornamentation limited to brick
beltcoursing and brick cornices—are relatively modest in comparison to the rowhouses that
would soon follow. The southern end building of the row at the corner of First and R Streets,
larger and more ornate, marks the corner in a way that would come to define all the corners of
Bloomingdale. The following year, Beale worked with a different architect who designed a
livelier row of three Romanesque Revival-style dwellings at 61-65 R Street, NW. Here, the
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three-story brick dwellings are set upon raised foundations and are covered with steep mansard
roofs, clad with scalloped shingles and sporting fanciful dormers. Rusticated lintels, corbelled
cornices, and cast iron stairs offered a model of quality craftsmanship. Beale would continue to
develop several more groups of dwellings over the next two decades (from 1892-1905), and
although other developers were more prolific, Beale should be credited with establishing the high
quality of residential building that characterizes the streets of Bloomingdale.

By 1895, within the first few years of development, new rowhouse construction began to cluster
along the unit block of R Street next to Beale’s first dwellings; along Q and Quincy streets to the
south closer to the city; and along Second and T streets, across from the already well developed
Le Droit Park neighborhood. Like those on R Street, the dwellings in the 1900 block of Second
Street, built in 1893, are robust rowhouses executed in a Romanesque Revival style featuring
round-arched openings, rusticated stonework and integrated brickwork. Designed by local
architect N.T. Haller, this group of seven dwellings culminates at the corner where the house at
1921 Second Street rises a full story above its neighbors and turns the corner with an elegant
cylindrical corner tower.

By the end of the 19" century, the streets of Bloomingdale between Florida Avenue and the
north side of S Street were fairly well developed. At the same time, some speculative
development had leapfrogged north of S Street over several undeveloped blocks, including the
south side of the unit block of V Street and the 2200 block of First Street. The unit block of V
Street is notable for its intact streetscape of vernacular Victorian dwellings defined by projecting
bays and garland-ornamented friezes designed and built by architect William J. Palmer. The
2200 block of First Street offers a striking collection of imposing and elegant late
Victorian/Edwardian rowhouses designed by B. Stanley Simmons for developer Ray Middaugh.
Clad in smooth terra cotta-colored Roman face brick, these three-story rowhouses sit upon raised
foundations and are covered with low-lying, half-mansard roofs with dormers, offering a full
basement below and attic on top of three principal floors. Projecting bays, alternating between
rectangular and semi-circular footprints and rising between two and three-stories in height, are
well-lit with large window openings and capped by decks with balustrades. The entrance bays,
raised above street level and reached by robust stone steps, are ornamented with carved stone
lintels above transoms, or arched voussoirs. The upper-level windows, alternating between
arched or flat-headed, are grouped together and framed and divided by colonnettes. The dormer
levels similarly feature grouped windows, separated by clustered colonnettes and capped by
finials at the half-hipped ridge line. The row is a visual delight of similar, but alternating
architectural treatments giving each house its own character.

The row, built in 1898 by Ray Middaugh, appears to have paved the way for a more concentrated
focus of architecturally notable rowhouses along the entire stretch of First Street from Rhode
Island Avenue to Channing Street over the next five years. In 1902-1903, Middaugh & Shannon
embarked upon equally impressive rows in the 2300 block of First Street (both sides of the
street) north of Adams Street using architect Joseph J. Bohn. The rowhouses in this block are
stylistically similar (Edwardian) to the 2200 block designed by Simmons, and are characterized
by their use of Roman brick; their alternating rhythm of rectangular and semicircular projecting
bays with balustraded decks atop; carved stone lintels over entry doors; clustered windows at the
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upper floor; and roof tops sheathed with decorative slate shingles, featuring projecting chimney
stacks. Dormer windows, however, are absent from the rowhouses on this block of First street. In
all of these blocks, the rows begin and end with impressive corner houses with corner towers
rising above the adjacent rooftops and turning the corners to make the transition to the side
streets and their houses. While Middaugh and Shannon worked regularly with Joseph Bohn in
Bloomingdale and other residential neighborhoods, it appears that the First Street rowhouses
designed by B. Stanley Simmons for Ray Middaugh strongly influenced the stylistic direction
taken by the Middaugh & Shannon/Joseph Bohn team on First Street. In other rows where
Middaugh & Shannon and Bohn worked together, including the 1700 block (east side) of First
Street and the unit block of Randolph Place, the late Victorian brick dwellings are more
vernacular in appearance, with rectangular projecting bays, and simpler surfaces having reduced
ornamentation and less variety of materials.

In 1904, developer Harry Wardman worked with his architect Nicholas R. Grimm on the east
side of the 2200 block of First Street which at the time of completion was dubbed, “The Fifth
Avenue of Bloomingdale” by The Washington Times. Still, while this row continues the
projections and recessions on the facades and the Roman brick aesthetic found in the Simmons-
designed buildings across the street, the overall trend is less varied, with each house having a
three-story projecting bay with a rectangular footprint, capped by a conical roof. Rusticated
beltcoursing, lintels and garlanded friezes decorate the entire row contributing to the quality of
architectural thythm found throughout the streetscapes of Bloomingdale.

While the majority of the rowhouses were the result of teams of owners, builders and architects
(i.e. Middaugh & Shannon/Joseph Bohn; and Wardman/Nicholas Grimm), in some cases,
architects and builders entered into the speculative building venture on their own. Local architect
Thomas Haislip and builder Francis Blundon, for instance, designed and built several rows of
dwellings in Bloomingdale, independently, including the 2100 blocks of First Street, between V
and W Streets (Haislip designed and built the east side of the block; Blundon, the west side).
Haislip’s First Street row, built 1901, begins on its southern end with a grand Romanesque
Revival-style house that he designed for himself. It features a circular corner tower capped by a
conical roof and a panoply of elements enlivening the V Street facade, including a Classical
porch with narrow Corinthian columns and a garlanded frieze supporting a balustrade above. The
roof is steeply pitched with decorative polychromatic shingles, projecting dormers and a
secondary tower with a pyramidal roof. The two towers feature finials at the apex, as do all of the
towers on Haislip’s First Street row extending north from his own house at the corner. All told,
Haislip was responsible for the design of 216 buildings in Bloomingdale. Several of these rows,
including the groups found at 69-73 U Street and 113-117 U Street are particularly notable for
their Romanesque Revival-style massing and ornamentation.

Like Haislip, Francis Blunden culminated his speculative row with a house for himself. This
house, at the northern end of the row at First and W Streets, continues the Victorian massing and
materials of the row, but is more imposing and more highly articulated, as is typical of all of the
corner buildings in Bloomingdale. The W Street facade of Blundon’s own house offers a porch
across the central entry, a projecting gable at the roofline, and towers to either side. Like
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Haislip’s and Blundon’s own houses, many of the corner dwellings in Bloomingdale similarly
treat the secondary street elevation as the principal facade of the house.

By 1905, almost all the unit and 100 blocks of Bloomingdale south of V Street, and the entire
First Street corridor from Florida Avenue to Channing Street had been built out. Over 1,000
buildings had been constructed in Bloomingdale in the 15-year period between 1891 and 1905,
creating a formidable array of late Victorian and Edwardian rowhouses. After 1905 and for the
next ten years, there would be a gradual shift in the rowhouse dwelling form. By the 1910s, the
model of three-story, projecting bay rowhouses capped by towers and projecting bays would be
replaced by the more compact, two-story, front-porch type house that define the majority of
Bloomingdale’s rows north of V Street.

20" Century Rowhouses

In the first years after the turn of the 20™-century, the 20"-century rowhouse dwelling form
began to emerge alongside the Victorian-era ones. The first instance of this changed form is
illustrated in the collection of houses at 18-26 Randolph Place, NW, designed by Joseph Bohn
and built in 1903. Here, the rows of houses (built in several groups), for the first time, have flat
fronted facades with no projecting bays. The dwellings are covered with flat roofs and have
single-story porches spanning the fagcades. Rusticated stone lintels and integrated brickwork at
the cornice line recall Victorian building treatment, but gone are the projecting bays and towers
that define the 19" century rowhouse. In plan, the houses are smaller and more compact and no
longer include a rear kitchen/service ell.

After 1903, rowhouse designs in Bloomingdale alternated between 19" and 20"™-century forms.
Generally, however, the Victorian-type rowhouses became smaller, less complex and more
regular, such as can be found along the 100 block of Adams Street (south side), built in 1905.
Here, two-story brick dwellings offer raised foundation levels, two-story projecting bays with
towers, and windows with rusticated stone lintels. But, rather than a variety of bay forms and
treatments as in earlier examples, the projecting bays, here, are all the same, as are the pyramidal
tower roofs. Similarly, rather than integrated brickwork and carved stonework, the ornamentation
has been reduced to rusticated lintels, and the corniceline to a continuous wood cornice with no
decorative frieze.

Based upon a review of the changing styles, it appears, too, that the architects and builders
continued to offer the taller Victorian rowhouse model along First Street, while simultaneously
introducing the flat-fronted variety along the grid streets. For instance, the row of dwellings on
First Street between U and V streets (east side) designed in 1908 by Wm. C. Allard feature
Victorian massing, while the rows of houses designed that same year in the unit block of Bryant
Street, also by Allard, no longer feature projecting bays.

Stylistically, the 20"-century rowhouse dwelling form was by no means static, and the streets of
Bloomingdale are witness to that. Indeed, excellent examples ranging from Renaissance Revival
to Academic Eclectic, to Colonial and Craftsman can be found throughout the neighborhood
from the 1910s through the 1920s.
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The unit block of W Street, alone, offers the dwelling form in a remarkable variety of styles. For
instance, those on the south side at the eastern end, 2-22 W Street, designed by George T.
Santmyers and built in 1922, provide a prime illustration of the Colonial Revival style Flemish
bond brick patterning, Classical detailing such as keystones at the center of the window lintels
and bracketed wood cornices, front-gabled dormers on-center of the hipped roofs and front
porches with brick piers, wood caps and wood balustrades. Immediately opposite those, on the
north side of the street, is a row of Craftsman-style houses, also designed by Santmyers in 1922.
Unlike the red brick Colonial Revival ones, these are built of buff brick with a textured finish,
have sloped roofs with overhanging eaves and shed-roof dormers in the front slope. The dormers,
too, have overhanging eaves with exposed rafters, both indicative of the Craftsman style.

In the center of the block on the north side, stands a group of five, designed in an Academic
Eclectic style. This row, designed by William Allard in 1912, is not easily classified stylistically,
but introduces academically correct Classical elements in a creative way. Of particular note are
the second-story oriel windows with pilasters framing the windows, and bas relief wood (or
plaster) moldings in the frieze boards above. Two of the houses in the row feature Flemish
gables, pierced with multi-light windows, rising above the corniceline. Each of these houses
shares similar treatments, yet each is slightly different, adding to the remarkable variety on the
street.

Abutting this group of five, is a longer row of nine, Classically-inspired front-porch rowhouses,
also designed by William Allard in 1912. This group reflects Renaissance Revival-style
treatment, particularly in the second story arcade of windows where arched windows in each of
the houses is treated differently. The house at 39 W Street offers a particularly fanciful display
where round-arched wood frames feature Classical decoration on the arches and ornate
colonnettes between them.

On the south side of W Street, from 28 to 74 W Street, ranges a long and intact collection of
builder-built front porch rowhouses. These are high quality brick vernacular/Colonial Revival-
inspired examples that are ubiquitous in Bloomingdale and elsewhere in the city’s 20™-century
neighborhoods.

Pairs of Dwellings

Within the rows of houses in Bloomingdale, there are at least ten examples where dwellings were
built as pairs, rather than as part of a longer row. In general in these cases, the pairs of dwellings
abut rowhouses on either side, and are thus not clearly distinguished from them. In other cases,
however, the pairs of dwellings are architecturally distinguished from abutting buildings, and/or
are detached entirely from abutting rows. Of particular note is a group of three duplexes, located
at 1822 First Street NW-103 Seaton Place NW; 105-107 Seaton Place NW; and 109-111 Seaton
Place built in 1898 and designed by architect Robert Pohl. Each of the three pairs consists of a
central, two-bay-wide projecting bay covered by a hipped roof with wide eaves supported by
exposed rafters. Two, lower-height, single-bay-wide bays are located to either side of this central
pavilion and are covered with separate, hipped roofs, also with wide eaves and exposed rafters.
The entry doors are located in the outside bays, while the two-bay-wide central bay is shared by
the two dwellings, where a wall between the two windows on the interior divides the building
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into its two living units. Porches historically covered the entry bays and wrap around the side
walls; some survive, others do not.

Another notable example is the pair of dwellings at 2007-2009 Second Street NW, built in 1906
to designs by architect Andrew C. Plant, Jr. The pair, adjacent to the former Gage Elementary
School, is detached on either side and features two-story projecting bays with Flemish gables
above them rising above the principal cornice line. Although the projecting bays are identical in
treatment, the entrance bays are different whereby 2007 Second Street has a single door with a
rusticated lintel above the transom and 2009 Second Street has a single door with a jack-arched
lintel above with rusticated imposts and a carved keystone above a segmental arched transom
light.

The pair of dwellings at 2003-2005 First Street designed by Julius Germuiller and built in 1906
is also noteworthy. Here, the pair is attached on either side, but features semi-circular projecting
bays that rise the full three-story height of the buildings in a manner not typically seen in
Bloomingdale.

Single Dwellings

At least 28 dwellings were built as single dwellings, independent from rows. They may have
been built on vacant lots within an existing row or they may have preceded the rows. For the
most part, these individual dwellings fit seamlessly into their rows and do not stand out. There
are two notable exceptions to this rule: 2405 First Street NW, built in 1904; and 25 Florida
Avenue designed built in 1906. Located at the northeast corner of First and Bryant Streets, 2405
First Street was designed by Joseph Bohn for owner and Bloomingdale developer Raymond
Middaugh of Middaugh and Shannon. It is a five-bay, central-passage-plan Georgian Revival-
style house with a side gable roof with end chimneys. It features a one-story, three-bay-wide
front porch with Ionic columns and a large central entry door with a fanlight and sidelights. This
house form and style, more typically found in suburban areas of the city, is unique in the urban
rowhouse neighborhood of Bloomingdale and was clearly designed to stand out as the home of
one of Bloomingdale’s most important developers. The house at 25 Florida Avenue, near the
intersection of North Capitol Street, is similarly a five-bay-wide, central-passage-plan house that
is unusual for Bloomingdale. It is raised upon a low foundation and features a central pediment
with tympanum, decorated with applied bas relief detailing.

Residential Buildings: Apartment Buildings and Flats

There are 50 buildings in Bloomingdale that have been identified either as apartment buildings or
as flats. Typologically, a flat is generally a small-scale, two- or three-story building with rental
units, generally arranged per floor. In some cases, flats are duplex-type buildings with side-by-
side rental units. Apartment buildings are larger, multi-story, multi-unit buildings.

The flats in Bloomingdale take on a variety of forms and range in date from 1901 to the present.
The earliest examples are designed to look like rowhouses on the exterior and share similar
features to them, such as single-entry doors and projecting bays, but are divided into two or more
rental units on the interior. The single-entry door leads from the exterior into a vestibule that
provides access to the separate rental units. A group of eight such rowhouse-type flats, built in

Section 7 page 12



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
Bloomingdale Historic District Washington, D.C.
Name of Property County and State

1903, is located at 20-34 Seaton Place NW. These flats are three stories tall and feature three-
story projecting bays. According to the Historic Building Permit, these flats provided apartments
for two families each. Similarly, the three-story, brick buildings at 35-43 Quincy Place NW, also
built in 1903, appear on the exterior to be single-family rowhouses with single entry doors and
projecting bays, but are actually flats for two families, each.

By the 1920s, the rowhouse-type flat had been supplanted by duplex-type flats, such as those at
2103-2121 2" Street NW, built in 1935. Here, two side-by-side single entrances are located on-
center of the facade of the flat-fronted brick duplexes, while large, double-wide windows open
up to either side.

In 2008, in conjunction with the rehabilitation of the former Gage School into the Parker-Gage
Condominiums, several new condominium buildings were constructed including the Parker Flats
at 2020 Flagler Street. These flats are modeled after the rowhouse flats in the historic
neighborhood; they are 2-1/2-story, attached brick buildings, set upon raised foundations
featuring two-story projecting bays and gables. Although outside of the Period of Significance,
these flats are compatible additions to the neighborhood.

The district’s larger, multi-story apartment buildings, built between 1903 and 1936 and are
generally located along the principal transportation arteries of North Capitol Street and Rhode
Island Avenue. Like the area flats, the oldest apartment buildings reflect the rowhouse dwelling
form. For example, The Francis and The Victor apartment buildings at 1812 and 1814 North
Capitol Street NW are twin, four-story brick buildings that are characterized by a series of
polygonal projecting bays with recessed bays holding single entry doors. Although their large
size gives them away as apartments and not single-family dwellings, both the Madison
Apartments and Nebraska Apartments retain the projecting bays of the 19™-century rowhouse
dwelling form. At five-stories in height, The Nebraska and The Madison are Bloomingdale’s
tallest apartment buildings.

The Henry Lee Apartment building at 5 Rhode Island Avenue is one of the most striking
apartment buildings, largely due to its location on a triangular lot at the intersection of Rhode
Island Avenue and North Capitol Street. The deep terra cotta-colored brick building has a series
of rectangular bays on both its Rhode Island and U Street elevations, and culminates at the apex
of the lot with a graceful semi-circular bay. Although many alterations have occurred at the
ground level of the Henry Lee, the building is still distinctive.

One of the more unique of the neighborhood apartment buildings is the one named after it—The
Bloomingdale—at 54 Rhode Island Avenue. Built in 1905 and designed by the architecture firm
of Sonneman & Mactier, the building is a two-story brick structure with a double-story porch
filling the front elevation along Rhode Island Avenue. This porch, which almost serves as a
screen to the masonry block behind it, has double-height columns and balustraded decks at both
the first and second stories and is capped by a central pediment at the roofline
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Commercial Buildings

Twenty-four buildings in Bloomingdale were built to serve commercial purposes and one
building, the Sylvan Theater, was built for entertainment. The majority of these buildings were
small, neighborhood-based stores, strategically located throughout the area at corner sites, along
Rhode Island Avenue, North Capitol Street, and First Street NW. In addition to the
neighborhood-based stores, Bloomingdale boasted a neighborhood theater, the Sylvan Theater, at
116 Rhode Island Avenue NW.

The commercial establishments in Bloomingdale arose contemporaneously with its residential
development, offering basic needs to residents of the burgeoning community. The stores range in
date from 1902 to 1939 and architecturally follow the stylistic preferences of the period. The
oldest examples, for instance, dating from the early 1900s, are invariably corner buildings that
mark the end of a late Victorian row of dwellings, feature corner bays and/or towers, and provide
a store on the first floor and living quarters above. This commercial model can be seen at 1822
North Capitol Street (1902); 1942 First Street (1903); 143 Florida Avenue (1911); and 84 T
Street (1911). The store/dwelling at 2200 Flagler Place (1906) fits the model above in that it
occupies a strategic corner site, but lacks the projecting bay and corner tower of the typical
“corner store.” The Flagler Place store instead features a flat facade facing Flagler Place, a
chamfered corner entry, and show windows along W Street NW. It was the only store west of
First Street in Bloomingdale.

One commercial building from the period that deviates from the corner site model is the
store/dwelling at 2016 First Street (1907). This two-story building does not occupy a corner site,
but is located within the middle of its rowhouse block, historically offering ground-floor retail
and upper-level residential.

By the 1910s, the two-story rowhouse model had essentially been replaced by the one-story
commercial store building. A notable early example of the one-story variety is located at 101
Rhode Island Avenue. Here, African American architect William Sydney Pittman designed a
single-story brick building that curves around the intersection of Rhode Island Avenue and First
Street and features a bold, projecting wood cornice. Decorative brickwork is located in the half-
story above the show windows. On the opposing, southeast corner at 80-84 Rhode Island
Avenue, the intersection houses another one-story commercial building. Built in 1907, this group
of three storefronts reflected Classical design inspiration with pilasters dividing the individual
store fronts and a continuous frieze with an applied garland motif extending across the group. A
streamlined modern addition that curves around the intersection with a sleek, aluminum
corniceline indicative of its 1950s-period design extends incorporates part of and extends off the
western end of the original 1907 building.

The one-story commercial row defines the area’s principal commercial corridor along the 1800
block of First Street. This row of five stores, built in 1913 and designed by the architecture firm
of MacNeil & MacNeil, is executed in a commercial craftsman mode characterized by low-lying
red tile roofs. Although part of a row, each store is defined by separate storefronts, and by
alternating pediments at the roofline. The end of the row turns the corner at Rhode Island
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Avenue, offering its entrance to the intersection. A neon sign (not original) identifies the
commercial node as Bloomingdale Center.

Several individual stores in the neighborhood stand out for their historic uses. Built in 1908, the
Mayer Bakery at 1644 North Capitol Street, for instance, historically included the bakery (store)
and dwelling, facing North Capitol, as well as a bake house at the rear of the lot (no longer
extant). Until two years ago, the surviving building was fully intact as a two-story red brick
building with single entry doors to either side of a central show window on the first story, and a
parapet roof with an arched pediment cornice on-center above a second-story of three singe
windows. Three roundels were evenly spaced below the parapet and above the second-story
windows, with the date of construction of the building located above the central roundel.
Although the first two floors essentially remain unaltered, the cornice was removed, a third floor
was added, and the parapet re-mounted at the new roofline, resulting in an awkward building
proportion. Two smaller stores span the streetscape along North Capitol between the Mayer
Bakery building and the dominant Fire House at the corner of North Capitol Street and Quincy
Place.

No longer in use as a theater, but still intact is the Sylvan Theater, the neighborhood’s most
architectural striking commercial building. Originally named the American Theater, the theater
opened in 1914 on Rhode Island Avenue, just west of First Street. Designed by local architect
Nicholas T. Haller for local builder James R. Sherwood, the theater is a large rectangular
structure whose striking facade facing Rhode Island Avenue hides the gable-roofed theater
behind. This facade is a tall screen built of buff brick and ornamented with Classical detailing
such as second-story brick pilasters; decorative brickwork laid in a diaper pattern set within a
central, recessed panel; and a parapet at the cornice line. The vertical, neon-lit sign spelling out
SYLVAN, dates to 1929 when the theater’s name was changed.

Institutional and Religious Buildings

Bloomingdale is home to one public school building (Nathaniel Gage Elementary School), one
firehouse (Old Engine Company 12), and five religious institutions and their associated
buildings.

Gage School

The Nathaniel Parker Gage School at Second and U streets NW, designed by architect Lemuel
Norris in 1902 and built in 1904, is a high-style, Colonial Revival style, red brick school
building. The symmetrically arranged building rises two stories above a raised foundation level
and is covered with a low hipped roof. The seven-bay-wide school features walls laid in Flemish
bond, a central entry with a limestone architrave surround, and window openings topped by
limestone lintels and other decorative limestone trimmings. The Gage School, listed in the D.C.
Inventory of Historic Sites and the National Register of Historic Places, was rehabilitated in
2004-2008 and converted into condominiums. New townhouse condominium buildings
constructed as part of this renovation were built on the school site and are included in the list of
non-contributing buildings.

Old Engine Company 12
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Old Engine Company 12, located at North Capitol Street and Randolph Place, and now home to
a restaurant, is a three-story, red brick firechouse designed by Municipal Architect Snowden
Ashford. Built in 1896-97 in a Dutch Revival style, the former firehouse affords a commanding
presence on North Capitol Street. It is a large, three-part structure with its principal wing fronting
North Capitol Street, and a two-story hyphen connecting this front block to a rear wing. The
front wing of the building is the most highly articulated part, covered by a steeply pitched roof
with projecting Dutch gables on the east, front facade, and on its north and south end walls. At
the first-floor level, two large apparatus doors are located to either side of a central entry, while a
decorative shield above the second-story windows containing the number “12,” clearly mark the
building as a municipal firechouse building. Old Engine Company 12 is listed in the D.C.
Inventory and the National Register of Historic Places.

Religious Buildings

All of the religious buildings in Bloomingdale are church or church-related and their histories are
as old as the neighborhood itself, even if the buildings are not the original ones to have been built
on their sites. Three of the church buildings are constructed of red brick and/or stone and reflect
the high Victorian character of the historic district, while one church complex—St. Martin’s—
stands out for its buff brick, Italianate Classicism more indicative of the architecture of the
Catholic Church nationally, than the architecture of Bloomingdale. One church building—St.
George’s Protestant Episcopal Church—was built in 1969 in a mid-century Modern aesthetic.

The oldest church-related buildings in Bloomingdale are associated with St. Martin’s Church, a
complex of three buildings running north along North Capitol Street from T Street. The church
itself, located at 1900 North Capitol Street at T Street, is the most recent building (originally
constructed in 1913, but essentially rebuilt in 1939), while the parish hall and rectory to the north
date to 1902. The parish hall, the northernmost building in the group, was designed by Catholic
church architect Albert O. von Herbulis. It is a two-story, Classical Revival-style masonry
building with a limestone-clad fagade with an enclosed front gable. The rectory, fronting directly
onto North Capitol Street, is three bays wide with a central entry door clearly expressed by a
slightly projecting, but engaged architrave surround. Full Ionic columns support the triangular
pediment and its frieze and flank the entryway with its double-leaf replacement doors. Single
window openings with limestone crosettes and carved keystones are located to either side of the
door on the first story and in all bays on the second story. Carved stone bas reliefs ornament the
wall between the pediment of the central door and the second-story window. The building is
capped by a wood cornice which forms the enclosed gable and is buttressed on the sides by stone
quoining.

The rectory, a smaller-scale two-story building at 1908 North Capitol Street was similarly
designed by von Herbulis in 1902. Like the parish hall, the rectory is Classically inspired and has
a smooth limestone-clad facade facing North Capitol Street. A semi-circular bay projects from
the six-bay-wide facade on its southern half, while an entry door is located on-center. The first-
floor windows on the main wall (not in the bay) are arched, while the remaining ones are flat-
headed and punched into the stone walls. The roof is capped by a projecting cornice with a solid
parapet wall above.

Section 7 page 16



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
Bloomingdale Historic District Washington, D.C.
Name of Property County and State

The church building at the southern end of the grouping continues the Classical Revival style of
the complex, but in a more full-blown manner. The building is a two-story church with a
cruciform-shaped plan covered with a cross-gable roof. The front elevation of the church
corresponds with the end of the long leg of the cruciform footprint and, in elevation, features a
gable-fronted, scored concrete facade with a central pedimented pavilion and narrow side wings
all capped by the gable roof. The central pavilion projects slightly from the side wings, and is
differentiated from the side wings by stone quoining which is also used to terminate the corners
of the side wings. The entry is located on-center of the building, enframed by an engaged and
projecting architrave with a segmental arch above Corinthian columns and their entablature. The
side wings have secondary door openings, and all three are filled with double-leaf paneled wood
doors. A large rose window sits atop the central entry and a large cross adorns the roofline on-
center. To either side of the two-story wings encompassed within the gable roof, are single-story
side wings with unadorned central panels and quoining. This building, designed by Frederick V.
Murphy, head of the Department of Architecture at Catholic University, was built in 1939. It
apparently incorporates the older 1913 one-story brick church building into its structure.

Mount Bethel Baptist Church, at the northeast corner of Rhode Island Avenue and First Street,
was built in 1901 as the Rhode Island Avenue Methodist Protestant Church. It is a high Victorian
Gothic, red brick church with a massive central bell tower facing the apex of the wedge-shaped
lot at the intersecting streets and providing entry to the basilican plan church with transept
crossing. In 1906, the church was expanded to include a Sunday School on the east end, but the
addition made so seamlessly that the building appears to have been built in a single building
campaign. The Rhode Island Avenue elevation features multiple projecting bays and gables with
a secondary tower on-center of the elevation and a large pointed arch tracery window with
stained glass in the front-most projecting bay. The first street elevation is more regularly
arranged with four bays of superimposed pointed-arch tracery windows forming the nave and a
wider gable end wall corresponding to the end wall of the transept.

The Memorial Church of the United Brethren in Christ at 1700 North Capitol Street, completed
in 1905, is a heavy, but striking, rough-faced red sandstone building executed in an
amalgamation of high Victorian styles designed by architect A.A. Richter. The basilican plan
church has a wide gable front facing North Capitol Street and a robust tower at the corner of
North Capitol and R Streets. The basilica is covered with a steep and broad gable roof, clad with
slate shingles, while the corner tower features a pyramidal roof with a stepped Tudor parapet
surrounding it turrets at the four corners with copper cresting. A copper cross projects from the
apex of the pyramidal roof. The fagade features an arcaded entrance porch of three very slightly
pointed arches with a large slightly pointed arch tracery window above. The arcade and the arch
surrounds are framed by smooth-cut stone, while the major expanse of wall surface is otherwise
characterized by its rough-cut stone and limited openings.

St. Paul’s Methodist Episcopal Church Chapel, a small-scale neighborhood church at 2" and S
Streets NW, was demolished in September 2018 just before completion of this nomination.
Designed by Speiden & Speiden architects, the chapel featured a front facing gable and a robust
and fortifi